NATIONS CERD

Distr.
GENERAL

International Convention on
the Elimination

CERD/ C/ SR. 1310
of all Forms of 3 May 1999
Racial Discrimination

ENGLI SH
Original: FRENCH

COWM TTEE ON THE ELI M NATI ON OF RACI AL DI SCRI M NATI ON
Fifty-fourth session
SUMMARY RECORD OF THE 1310t h MEETI NG

Hel d at the Palais des Nations, Geneva,
on Thursday, 4 March 1999, at 10 a.m

Chai r man: M. ABOUL- NASR

CONTENTS

CONSI DERATI ON OF REPORTS, COMMENTS AND | NFORMATI ON SUBM TTED BY STATES PARTI ES
UNDER ARTI CLE 9 OF THE CONVENTI ON (cont i nued)

Thirteenth and fourteenth periodic reports of Finland(continued)

ACTI ON BY THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY AT ITS FIFTY-TH RD SESSI ON

Ef fective inplenmentation of international instrunents on hunman rights:
Functioning of treaty bodies

This record is subject to correction.

Corrections should be submtted in one of the working | anguages. They
shoul d be set forth in a nmenorandum and al so incorporated in a copy of the
record. They should be sent within one week of the date of this docunent to
the Oficial Records Editing Section, roomE. 4108, Pal ais des Nations, Ceneva

Any corrections to the records of the public neetings of the Commttee
at this session will be consolidated in a single corrigendumto be issued
shortly after the end of the session.

GE. 99- 40755 (E)



CERD/ C/ SR. 1310
page 2

The neeting was called to order at 10.05 a. m

CONSI DERATI ON OF REPORTS, COMMENTS AND | NFORMATI ON SUBM TTED BY STATES PARTI ES
UNDER ARTI CLE 9 OF THE CONVENTI ON (agenda item 4)

Thirteenth and fourteenth periodic reports of Finland(continued)
(CERD/ C/ 320/ Add. 2; HRI/ CORE/ 1/ Add. 32)

1. At the invitation of the Chairman, the nenbers of the Finnish del egation
took places at the Conmmittee table

2. The CHAI RMAN gave the floor to two of the Cormittee's experts who w shed
to make comments to the Finnish del egation before the latter replied to the
questions already raised.

3. M. DI ACONU wel conmed the fact that the Finnish Penal Code condemmed
genoci de, which it defined nore precisely than the 1948 Convention on the
Prevention and Puni shnment of the Crinme of Genocide. He also welconed the fact
that it was a punishable offence to practise racial discrimnation in the
services sector or to place any person in a situation of inequality or
inferiority on grounds of race or national or ethnic origin. Such a neasure
was quite rare in the legislation of States parties to the Conventi on.

4, Two ot her extrenely positive points concerning the struggle against
racial discrimnation in Finland were the establishment of a | arge nunber of
advi sory boards, such as those for refugees and imm grants and for the Sami
and the Roma, on which the communities concerned were represented, and the

exi stence of a |arge nunber of civilian associations, such as the Red Cross,
the churches, sporting organi zations, journalists' associations and the nedi a,
whi ch were involved in the canpai gn agai nst racial discrimnation. Although
all those activities still needed to be coordinated nore effectively, it had
to be acknow edged that Finland had endowed itself with an appropriate
framework to combat racism

5. The main problemw th which the Sam were faced was that of |and rights,
since the Sam contested the State's claimto ownership of forest areas. That
di spute shoul d be settled through negotiations with due regard for the
interests not only of the Sam but of society as a whole. That would enable
Finland to beconme a party to the International Labour Organization (ILO
Convention No. 169 concerning indigenous and tribal peoples in independent
countries. He also believed that the adoption of a |egislative enactnent
remai ned the best way to define the Sam people.

6. The situation of the Roma in Finland was still causing concern. That
popul ation was suffering froma higher-than-average rate of unenpl oynent, as
well as difficulties of access to housing. The Parliamentary Onbudsnman and
the police seemed to be doing nothing to elimnate discrimnation agai nst

them In that regard, he referred to the case of a nmunicipality in which an
official had rejected a housing application submtted by a famly of Roma. In
a decision of 26 Septenber 1996, the Onbudsman had expl ai ned that he had
refused to institute | egal proceedi ngs because “the decision of that nunici pal
of ficial was based mainly on his deep-seated conviction that the famly would
cause di sturbances in the nei ghbourhood due to its Romani origins”. However,



CERD/ C/ SR. 1310
page 3

it was precisely that prejudice that concerned the Conmittee because it bore
witness to a tendency to discrimnate agai nst the Roma and Governments
everywhere had an obligation to conbat such tendencies. |If that case were
submitted to the Committee under the ternms of article 14 of the Convention
(consideration of comunications fromindividuals or groups of individuals
claimng to be victins of a violation of any of the rights set forth in the
Convention), the Comm ttee woul d undoubtedly conclude that such prejudice
constituted an act of racial discrimnation

7. The report indicated that refugees and immgrants did not conplain to
the police because, in their countries of origin, they had no confidence in
the authorities. The problem was whether, in Finland, those persons had
confidence in the police. Wat were the authorities doing to establish and
i ncrease confidence anong those popul ati ons?

8. Wth regard to the question of acquisition of nationality, he recalled
that, under the ternms of article 1, paragraph 3, of the Convention, “Nothing
in this Convention may be interpreted as affecting in any way the | ega

provi sions of States Parties concerning nationality, citizenship or
naturalization, provided that such provisions do not discrimnate against any
particular nationality”. That meant that, although States could regul ate the
gquestion of acquisition of nationality at their discretion, they should not
discrimnate in that field. Finnish legislation in that regard should
therefore be reviewed in the light of the Convention.

9. M. SHAHI said that the report contained a wealth of information,
thereby testifying to the evident desire of the Finnish authorities to

i npl emrent the various provisions of the Convention to a |arger extent. He
enphasi zed that the report indicated the following: “The Sam Thing (Sam
Parliament) shares the concern of the Conmittee on the Elinmination of Racial
Di scrim nation concerning the Sami |and rights and is presently |ooking into
the matter. The CGovernnent, which has not yet adopted a political programe
on the Sami |and rights, has nonethel ess requested the Sami Thing to propose a
solution to the probleni (CERD/ C/ 320/ Add. 2, appendix Il, para. 20). The
Comrittee therefore hoped that that situation would be regul ated before the
consi deration of Finland' s next periodic report and that it would be kept
informed of the legislative and other neasures taken to enable the Sam to
enjoy their land rights.

10. He al so rem nded the delegation that, in a general recommendation on the
ri ghts of indigenous peoples which was adopted on 18 August 1997 (A/52/18,
annex V, para. 4 (c)), the Committee had called in particular upon States
parties to “provide indigenous peoples with conditions allowing for a
sust ai nabl e econom ¢ and soci al devel opnent conpatible with their cultura
characteristics”. As many other indigenous communities had pointed out, the
cultural characteristics, and nore specifically the identity, of indigenous
peoples were closely linked to the land. Under the terns of that
recomrendation, the Committee had al so especially called upon States parties
to “recogni ze and protect the rights of indigenous peoples to own, devel op,
control and use their comunal |ands, territories and resources and, where
they have been deprived of their Iands and territories traditionally owned or
ot herwi se inhabited or used without their free and inforned consent, to take
steps to return those lands” (ibid., para. 5). He hoped that, when Finland



CERD/ C/ SR. 1310
page 4

presented its next periodic report to the Cormittee, a satisfactory solution
woul d have been found to the question of the land rights of the Sam people.
Since they nunbered only 7,000, it should not be too difficult to solve that
probl em

11. M. AARNI O (Finland) said that the total number of Sam |living in the
Nordic countries and in the Russian Federation ranged from 70,000 to 100, 000.
O the 6,900 to 7,000 living in Finland, the majority (4,000) could be found
in Lapland. There were about 1,000 Sami in Helsinki. The question of the
definition of the Sam people was problematic because the Sam thensel ves
feared that a broader definition would be tantamount to a forced integration
of their group. The Electoral Conmi ssion of the Sam Parlianent had recently
rejected 1,124 applications from descendants of Lapps wi shing to have their
names added to the electoral register for elections to the Sam Parliament.

It had accepted 436 applications on the basis of the linguistic criterion.
Those whose applications had been rejected could appeal and the authorities
wer e expecting a |arge nunmber of such appeals. Although the Governnment could
in no way comrent officially on the decision that had recently been taken by
the El ectoral Commi ssion of the Sam Parliament, he personally thought that
the principal question that would have to be settled was the scope and
content, in international law, of the right of indigenous peoples to choose
their representatives freely.

12. Wth regard to the right of the Sami to the I[ands that they had
traditionally occupied, the Mnistry of Justice was currently preparing a
draft solution that would soon be presented to the Mnister of Justice. His
del egation could say nothing about the content of that text but could
nevert hel ess give an assurance that the Governnent's aimwas to settle the
gquestion of the land rights of the Sami and to ratify ILO Convention No. 169
in the near future

13. Hi s del egati on had taken careful note of the Comm ttee's concerns
regardi ng i ndi genous peoples, as well as the recommendati on on the rights of
i ndi genous peoples to which M. Shahi had referred

14. Concerning the question of which groups in Finland were covered by the
Counci | of Europe Framework Convention for the Protection of Nationa

M norities, he said that Finland regarded national mnorities as being the
Swedi sh- speaki ng popul ati on, the Sami people, the Roma, the Jews, the

Tatars and the Russian popul ation which first settled in Finland in the

ei ghteenth century.

15. In response to the question raised by M. Sherifis, the Rapporteur for

Fi nl and, concerning the participation of inmmgrants in municipal elections, he
expl ained that the groups of aliens were normally too small to effectively
form associ ati ons of voters. However, that situation was gradually changing
and, for the forthcom ng |egislative elections, all the political parties had
i ncluded i mm grant candi dates on their |ist.

16. He acknow edged that, with regard to freedom of association, a

di stinction that could no |longer be justified was still being nmade between the
rights of Finnish citizens and those of aliens. He gave an assurance that his
del egation would informthe country of the concerns to which that question was



CERD/ C/ SR. 1310
page 5

giving rise on the Commttee. At all events, Parlianent was currently
considering a bill of |law that penalized participation in crimnal, and
particularly racist, organizations.

17. In accordance with an ancient Nordic tradition, the Mnistry of Justice
was currently responsible for ensuring respect for the | aw concerning freedom
of the press. That arrangenent woul d soon be changed since the Finnish
Comrittee on Freedom of Expression had proposed, in a report submitted in
February 1997, that the decision as to whether proceedi ngs should be
instituted in respect of the content of an article should lie with the
Attorney-Ceneral. The right to institute proceedi ngs against witten
publications would |ikew se be exercised by the Attorney-General and no |onger
by the Mnistry of Justice.

18. In response to the question raised by M. de Gouttes, who wi shed to know
whet her, in Finland, penalties could be increased if the notive of the offence
was racist, he indicated that nmenbers of Parliament, and not the Government,
had tabled a bill of law to that end but it had not been possible to take a
deci sion thereon before the closure of the legislative session. However, that
question would be tackled within the framework of the current process of
overall reform of the Penal Code

19. M. RYTOVUORI (Finland) said that his country had al ready begun
preparations for the organization of the Wirld Conference agai nst Raci sm
Raci al Discrimnation, Xenophobia and Rel ated Intol erance, which was due to be
held in the year 2001 at the |atest. At the national |evel, the main aspects
of the preparatory process were being studied by the Finnish Preparatory
Comrittee agai nst Raci sm Xenophobia, Anti-Sem tismand Intolerance. No

deci sion had yet been taken concerning the possibility of funding

non- gover nnent al organi zati ons, although the Government intended to ensure
that the NGOs participated fully in the national preparations for the
Conference. At the regional level, Finland had taken part in the first
meeting of experts organi zed by the Council of Europe 15 days earlier within
the framework of the European preparatory process. Finland also intended to
partici pate actively in the deliberations of the Ad Hoc Worki ng G oup
established by the Comm ssion on Human Rights to study that question, which
was due to neet during the Conmm ssion's next session. Last Decenber, Finland
had al so contributed US$ 28,902 to the Trust Fund for the Programme of Action
for the Third Decade to Conbat Raci sm and Racial Discrimnation (1993-2003).
According to the High Comm ssioner for Human Ri ghts, although Finland had not
contributed to that fund in recent years, that contribution had nade it the

| argest donor. That anpunt had been specifically allocated to the
preparations for the Wrld Conference

20. M. CORTES TELLEZ (Finland) said that, in February 1997, his CGovernnent
had published its first governnmental plan of action to combat raci sm and
pronote tol erance at the administrative |level. That plan of action had nmade
it possible, inter alia, to take positive neasures to considerably increase
the training that civil servants received in the field of ethnic relations and
raci smand also to promul gate new | egi sl ati on guaranteeing the rights and
obligations of the children of immgrants. Nunerous special organizations had
been established to provide protection against discrinmnation and the police




CERD/ C/ SR. 1310
page 6

had i ssued new instructions to be followed in the campai gn agai nst raci sm
That plan of action had also nmade it possible to increase the aid allocated to
the NGOs that were inplenmenting progranmes to combat racism

21. Wth regard to the police, in June 1997 the National Police Directorate
at the Mnistry of the Interior had issued specific instructions under which
police officers were obliged to automatically investigate racially notivated
crimes, to provide special protection for mnorities and to cooperate nore
closely with ethnic mnorities at the local level. Police officers were also
attending training courses on questions of racismand racial discrimnation.
Wi | e acknow edgi ng the fact that the passports of applicants for residence
permts were retained throughout the period of exam nation of the files, he
enphasi zed that they could be returned to applicants who needed to travel

22. M . LAAKKONEN (Finland) provided sone details concerning the Finnish
systemto conbat racial discrimnation based on ethnic origin. Last Cctober
the Mnistry of Labour had established a special steering group to nonitor

di scrimnation not only against new imm grants but also against traditional
ethnic mnorities in all sectors of society. That group consisted of
representatives of five mnistries and of the Finnish League for Human Ri ghts,
as well as the Onbudsman for Aliens. Consequently, there was effective

i nteraction between the Adm nistration and civil society.

23. In the spring, the jurisdiction of the Onbudsman for Aliens would be
redefi ned and expanded and that nedi ator woul d subsequently be known as the
Orbudsman agai nst Ethnic Discrimnation. The system would be fully
operational as soon as the appropriations had been approved by the Governnent
installed following the parlianmentary el ections next April.

24, The shadow report of the Finnish League for Human Rights had omtted to
mention the exi stence of a governnental organization, nanely the Advisory
Board for Good Ethnic Relations in Finland, which was actively tackling

probl ens of integration and the proposals of which often led to amendnents to
Finnish law. It was on the initiative of that Board that inmm grants had been
granted the right to vote in |ocal elections.

25. Wthin the framework of the canpai gn against ethnic discrimnation,
measures were also being taken in the field of housing and, in particular,

| ow- cost housi ng which posed a very severe problemin sonme districts of

Hel sinki. In two nmonths' time, a new enactnment on the integration of

i mm grants woul d place nunicipalities under an obligation to take action to
combat all forns of discrimnation in the housing sector.

26. Wth regard to citizenship, he acknow edged that nationals of Nordic
countries could obtain Finnish nationality after only two years while
nationals of other countries had to wait five years (three if they were
married to a Finnish citizen). That difference in treatnent was attributable
to the long tradition of cooperation and solidarity anong the Nordic
countries, which had established a conmon market in 1954 and had been
operating a conmon social security schenme since 1955. That particularity was
due to be discussed by the European bodies in which the question of dual
nationality was to be consi dered.



CERD/ C/ SR. 1310
page 7

27. Finally, with regard to the status of the Roma who had come from fornmer
Yugosl avia, nmost of them had arrived in Finland with about 2,000 other
refugees with whomthey enjoyed equal status.

28. M . KOSONEN (Finland) returned to the question of safe countries of
asyl um whi ch had already been raised, with regard to Finland, in 1996. As
i ndi cated in paragraph 122 of the report, “In the Decision-in-Principle for
t he Government Programme on Inmm gration and Refugee Policy the Council of
State had decided to abandon the |listing of safe countries of origin and to
include only safe countries of asylumin the lists of safe countries. The
list of safe countries of asylumto be established would include only
countries which net certain criteria. The list and its revision would be
deci ded on by decree.”

29. The criteria to be met by safe countries of asylum had been defined in a
draft anmendment to the Aliens' Act (art. 33 (a)), which had been adopted quite
recently. Under that provision, safe countries of asylum were regarded as
bei ng countries which had acceded wi thout reservation to the conventions
concerning the status of refugees, which were conplying with those
conventions, which were applying the International Covenant on Civil and
Political Rights and the Convention agai nst Torture and which, in general,
respected human rights.

30. However, the Constitutional Council held the viewthat the |ist of safe
countries of asylum could not be drawn up by decree since such a text could be
used only to prescribe certain mnor technical application procedures. That
[ist could be drawn up only in a legislative enactnent. No |egislative text
having so far been proposed, there was a sort of juridical vacuum although the
Admi ni strative Comm ssion of Parlianment had clearly indicated in its report
that the safe countries of asylumincluded, at the very |least, the countries
of the European Union, Switzerland, the United States, Australia, Canada,
Japan and New Zeal and, the expression “at the very |east” signifying that the
list was not limtative. The criteria laid down in article 33 (a) were
therefore already being applied in practice.

31. Wth regard to the Sanmi people, many of the cases referred to in the
report of the League for Human Ri ghts were still pending and it would be

i nappropriate to discuss themat the present stage. However, in the |ight of
a previous case that had been brought before the Human Ri ghts Conmmittee,

rei ndeer husbandry had been recogni zed as one of the fundanental elenments of
Sam culture and that mnority was perfectly able to enforce its rights not
only before the national tribunals but also before international bodies.
However, in another case on which it had expressed an opinion, the Conmttee
had declared that activities which had only a limted inpact on the lifestyle
of the Sam did not necessarily constitute a denial of their rights under the
pertinent international conventions.

32. It should al so be noted that the various cases concerning the Sam had
made it possible to establish, in the field, a consultative process that was
currently bearing fruit. For exanple, in the reindeer pasturage areas, the
Fi nni sh Parks and Forestry Board was taking care to construct only highways,
of limted width, that were strictly necessary.



CERD/ C/ SR. 1310
page 8

33. Ms. HAGELSTAM (Finland) replied, first of all, to the question raised
by M. Sherifis concerning famly reunification. As M. Kosonen had already
expl ained in his statenent, an anmendnent to the Aliens' Act had recently been
adopted by Parlianent. Under those new provisions, it would be possible to
obtain a residence permit on the grounds of links of kinship or the need for
fam |y protection.

34. The translation of the human rights instruments mentioned in the report
had been conpleted in 1997. The European Charter for Regional or Mnority
Languages had been translated into northern Sami and the possibility of also
transl ating the human rights conventions into the Romani | anguage had been
consi dered, taking into account the concerns that the Conmttee had expressed
in that regard.

35. In response to the question raised by M. Sherifis concerning the

di ssem nation of information on the International Convention on the
Elimination of All Fornms of Racial Discrimnation, she said that the
Convention had been published in 1997 in Finnish, Swedish and English in the
series of publications of the Mnistry of Foreign Affairs with detailed

expl anati ons of the individual recourse procedures provided for in article 14.
The periodic reports that Finland had submtted to the Conmittee, together
with the latter's conclusions and reconmmendati ons, had al so been published in
the same series and widely distributed to public adm nistrative departnents
and to all other parties concerned. The periodic reports and the Committee's
concl usi ons and recomrendati ons woul d al so soon be available on the Internet.

36. M. YUTZI S thanked the Finnish delegation for its highly informative
replies, which had helped to clarify some points. However, w thout wi shing to
guestion the Finnish Governnment's desire to apply the Convention, he had three
comments to nmake.

37. I n paragraph 218 of the periodic report of Finland, it was stated, for
example, that “a foreigner who intends to engage in renmunerated enploynent in
Finland is obliged to have a work permt”. However, it added that “this is
not required of a citizen of a State belonging to the European Econonic Area
(EEA)”. He would like to know who had established that distinction and for
what reasons, since such a neasure had consequences. As noted in

paragraph 212, “In spring 1996, about 50 per cent of all inmgrants were
unenpl oyed, with the rate for Finns being over 17 per cent. In sone groups
the unenpl oynent rate was 80-90 per cent”. However, everyone knew that

enpl oynment, quite apart fromproviding a livelihood, was also a factor in

i ntegration. Unenploynment had an influence on the personality and state of
m nd of the persons affected and, in particular, had repercussions on
crimnality. 1In a juster, but undoubtedly Utopian, world the respective
unenpl oynent rates for Finns and aliens should be nore bal anced.

38. A second point concerned the explanations that Finland had given on the
question of countries of asylum |If he had understood correctly, it had
finally been decided that the |ist of safe countries of asylum could not be
drawn up by decree. However, the representative of Finland had added that the
safe countries of asylumwere the countries that had signed the human rights
conventions. It remmined to be deterni ned whether those conventions were
applied in practice. Although he did not have at hand the text of the new



CERD/ C/ SR. 1310
page 9

article 33 (a), which was apparently now applicable, it seened to himthat, as
long as the list nmentioned in paragraph 122 had not been drawn up nom nally,
there could al ways be mass expulsions. |In that regard, he referred to the
case nentioned in the report of the Finnish League for Human Ri ghts concerning
Somal i refugees.

39. Hi s final comrent concerned the Sam people. Paragraph 81 of the report
stated that: “In 1994 it was proposed in the Government Bill (on the Sam
Thing) that the definition (of the Sam ) be nmade broader”. However, the Sam

did not seemto have been consulted on that question since paragraph 82
admtted that “the extended definition of a Sam has proved to be problematic”
and “the Sam Thing, the Sam Council, the Advisory Board for Sam Affairs,

t he provincial government of Lapland and ... representatives of the scientific
communi ty, anong others, demand that the definition be restricted”. Paragraph
84 stated, once again, that it was the Mnistry of Justice - and not the Sam
thenmsel ves - which had decided in January 1997 to take nmeasures to relink the
Sam identity with know edge of the Sami | anguage. That text should be
conpared with one published in Cctober 1998 by the Sam Parlianment in which
the latter indicated that the nenbers of a group of Finns had systematically
opposed Sam cultural autononmy. They were exploiting the very broad
definition of a Sami in order to declare thensel ves Sam and were attenpting
to domi nate the Sam Parlianment on the basis of that broad definition and the
advant ages that the Sam people enjoyed. They were supported by a handful of
menmbers of Parliament representing Lapland. In view of the fact that the

el ectoral canpaign for the forthcom ng parlianmentary elections in Finland was
bei ng | aunched, the CGovernment seenmed ready to turn a blind eye to those
anti-Sam activities by declining to nodify the definition of a Sam . That
deci sion had been taken w thout any discussion in the Government. As a
result, the Sam felt that their status was being threatened. He would |ike
to know how the situation stood at the present tine. Since the Governnent was
still taking nmeasures wi thout consulting the Sam people, the controversy
woul d probably continue. Texts should be adopted to clarify the situation and
re-establish a stricter definition of the Sami under which they woul d enjoy
effective legal protection. He hoped that the goodwill that the Finnish

del egati on had shown in that regard woul d produce results.

40. M. BANTON referring to the question of the definition of a Sam, said
that he was satisfied with the reply given by the Finnish del egation.

However, he wished to clarify sone points. First of all, in his previous
statenment he had merely wanted to point out that, if the |aw protected Sani
rei ndeer herders, that did not nmean that all the Sami were protected since
they were not all engaged in that activity. Consequently, that could give
rise to a conflict of interests between the Sam herders and others, in
contrast to the Swedi sh system under which reindeer herders were protected as
an econoni c group.

41. Wth regard to the |l and dispute in the Lemmenj oki National Park, he was
reassured to know that the highway crossing that national park was a forest
road. The fact remained that it disrupted the pasturing habits of animals in
that area. He therefore wi shed to know whet her measures had been taken to
remedy that problem He noted, with regret, that the report said nothing
about the type of arrangenents that had been made to resolve such conflicts of
i nterest, about the bodies responsible for settling those disputes or about



CERD/ C/ SR. 1310
page 10

the composition of those bodies and their powers to award conpensation. He
therefore invited the delegation to reply on that point either during the
present neeting or during the consideration of the next report.

42. M. LAAKKONEN (Finland), replying to a previous question, affirned that
refugees did not need a work pernit in Finland. Wth regard to the rate of
unenpl oynent anong aliens which, although declining, was higher than that
anong Finns (38 per cent as conpared with 30 per cent), he said that, in nost
cases, it was attributable to a |linguistic problemsince persons who spoke
nei t her Finnish nor Swedish found it nore difficult to obtain enpl oynent.
However, a new enactnment, concerning the integration of immgrants and the
reception of asylum seekers, which had recently been approved by Parlianent
was due to enter into force on 1 May or 1 Septenber 1999 and should establish
a certain bal ance between the rights and obligations of imrgrants. He also
i ndi cated that a m xed body, consisting of nmenbers of the public authorities
and social partners, was due to be established in the near future to |l ook into
those questions and a study on discrimnation in the |abour market was to be
published in the autumm of 1999.

43. M . KOSONEN (Finland) referring to the list of “safe countries”, said
that the eligibility criteria for countries, nanely their respect for the
provi sions of the Convention relating to the Status of Refugees, the

I nternational Covenant on Civil and Political Rights and the Convention

agai nst Torture, were, in effect, very restrictive and that |ist was due to be
revi sed.

44. The | ast sentence of paragraph 122 of the report (CERD/ C/ 320/ Add. 2)
shoul d al so be rephrased since it was apparently causi ng confusion.

45. Replying to M. Banton's question concerning the procedure applied in
the event of conflicts involving the land rights of the Sam, he said that, in
accordance with the recommendati ons of human rights bodies, the National
Forestry and Parks Board usually consulted the Sam when decisions needed to
be taken concerning their |lands. However, in the event of a dispute, there
was no procedure other than the normal |egal recourse. The fact that the Sam
did not own the |ands on which they lived in no way affected their rights.

46. M. AARNI O (Finland), wishing to clear up any m sunderstandi ng
concerning the question of the definition of a Sam, said that the decision to
expand that definition had been taken jointly with the authorities of the Sam
peopl e, as stated in paragraph 81 of the report (CERD/ C/ 320/ Add. 2), and the
probl em arose fromthe fact that Parliament had adopted that proposal w thout
taking into account the date of 1875. Subsequently, the Sam Parlianment and
the non-Sam population living in Lapland had entered into negotiations with a
viewto restricting that definition. Those negotiations had not been
successful. The Finnish Prine Mnister had therefore decided to wait for the
Sept enber 1999 el ections before reconsidering the problem

47. M. SHERIFIS (Rapporteur for Finland) conmended the Finnish del egation
for its detailed report, its spirit of cooperation, its open-m ndedness and
the conmpetence of its menbers. Anong the positive points, he nentioned the
Governnent's decision to review the list of “safe countries”, the wllingness
to accede to I LO Convention No. 169, the appointment of an Orbudsman agai nst




CERD/ C/ SR. 1310
page 11

Et hnic Discrimnation to replace the Orbudsman for Aliens, the new | egislation
on the integration of imrmigrants and the reception of asylum seekers which
woul d soon enter into force, the anmendnent in favour of family reunification
and the adoption, in October 1997, of the Decision-in-Principle of the Counci
of State for the Government Programme for |mrgration and Refugee Policy.

48. On the other hand, there were sonme fields in which further efforts
needed to be made, particularly in regard to the situation of the Sam , the
Roma, i ndi genous peoples, inmgrants and refugees, the land rights of the Sam
whi ch shoul d be established without further delay and the question of racist
organi zati ons on which Finland had nmade no progress since the consideration of
its previous report.

49. In conclusion, he called upon Finland to dissem nate as wi dely as
possi bl e the principles, ains and provisions of the Convention since, if it
was inportant for citizens to have rights, it was equally inportant that they
shoul d be aware of those rights. He welconed the progress nade since the |ast
di al ogue with Finl and.

50. The CHAIRMAN in turn, congratulated the Finnish del egation on the
quality of its report and its statenents. He said that the Comrittee had

t hereby concluded its consideration of the thirteenth and fourteenth periodic
reports of Finland.

51. The Finnish delegation withdrew

The neeting was suspended at 12. 05 p.m and resuned at 12.10 p.m

ACTI ON BY THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY AT ITS FIFTY-TH RD SESSI ON

Effective inplenentation of international instrunents on human rights
Functioning of treaty bodies (agenda item 6 (b))

52. At the invitation of the Chairman, Ms. A. Bayefski, Professor at
York University (Canada), and M. C. Heyns, Professor at the University of
Pretoria (South Africa), took places at the Committee table

53. The CHAIRMAN i nvited Ms. Bayefski to present the study of the
United Nations human rights treaty system whi ch she was conducting with
M . Heyns.

54. M s. BAYEFSKI greeted the menbers of the Commttee and said that the
study, which was being undertaken in collaboration with the Office of the
Hi gh Conmmi ssi oner for Human Rights, would conprise a review of the working
met hods of the treaty bodies, an analysis of the support and operational
mechani sns for the inplenentation of international instruments, an assessnent
of the obstacles inpeding the optimal functioning of the system and
reconmendations to inprove it.

55. To that end, all the participants in the system- States parties, NGOs,
speci al i zed agenci es and experts - had been called upon to coll aborate and
account would be taken of the work already carried out in that field. Case



CERD/ C/ SR. 1310
page 12

studi es woul d be undertaken in a number of countries representative of the
diversity of perceptions and realities within the United Nations in order to
assess the inpact of the treaty bodies in ternms of ratification,

adm ni stration and enforcenent. The key words in that study were
effectiveness, results and quality. Achievenent of objectives, respect for
deci si ons concerni ng individual comunications, the attention given to reports
and the benefits derived therefromby the victins of human rights violations
woul d be assessed.

56. The study woul d devel op a nethodol ogy to evaluate results based on
princi ples such as accountability, transparency of procedures, independence of
comrittee nenbers, representativeness of the systemand its accessibility to
potential victins.

57. A set of reconmendati ons would be presented to the Ofice of the
H gh Conmmi ssioner for Human Ri ghts by Decenber 1999.

58. Certain long-standing criticisns gave cause to question the systems
responsi veness to changi ng i nperatives and needs. The United Nations treaty
system shoul d respond effectively to the international conmunity's
expectations in regard to quality, accessibility and efficiency. That was the
aimof the study, to which the nmenbers of the Committee were invited to
contribute

59. Three questions were of particular concern to her: |In what fields did
the Cormittee have the greatest need for assistance? How and at what | evel
did the secretariat need to be strengthened? How could a closer |ink be
establi shed between the treaty system and national and regional activities?

60. The CHAIRMAN i nvited the nmenbers of the Committee to comment on the
st udy.

61. M. GARVALOV said that the university study by Professors Bayef ski

and Heyns would certainly be valuable for the work of the Ofice of the

H gh Commi ssioner for Human Rights and the treaty bodies. It should enphasize
the fact that the reports containing the decisions of the Conmttee should be
submitted directly to the Secretary-General of the United Nations and the
Security Council and that, provided that it was given the nmeans and as it had
al ready done in the case of Kosovo in 1993 for exanple, the Conmittee was
capable of intervening directly within its field of jurisdiction in order to
establish a dial ogue between opposing parties. It should also highlight the
useful ness and effectiveness of the early warning system and the urgent
procedure, these being well-established and uni que nechani snms the operation of
whi ch shoul d be better known to the Secretariat of the Organization.

62. One of the mmjor problems encountered concerned the neasures to be taken
to ensure that the States parties inplenented fully and in an honest and

ef fective manner the provisions of the international instrunments that they had
ratified, failing which the universality of those instrunents would becone a
meani ngl ess obj ective. The study should al so assess the effectiveness of the
policies and nmethods which the States parties and the treaty bodies were



CERD/ C/ SR. 1310
page 13

applying in order to give effect to the international instruments concerning
basic rights. It would be very useful to study that question at internationa
sem nars or conferences specially devoted to the treaty bodies.

63. M. van BOVEN said that one of the problens encountered was the
Comrittee's isolation since it was based at the United Nations O fice at
Ceneva, far fromnost of the regions and countries with which it was
concerned. The Committee should be in closer contact with the latter and, to
that end, would obviously need to be allocated additional financial and
material resources. Gven the inportant role that national human rights
organi zati ons and groups played in the inplenmentation of international human
rights instruments, the non-governnmental organizations in the devel oping
countries should also be able to contact the Comrittee as easily as their
counterparts in the devel oped countries, which was rarely the case

64. He said that the study should accord special attention to the question
of followup by the States parties on the Commttee's reconmendati ons and
conclusions in order to reassure everyone that States were honouring their
obligations under the international human rights instruments in a serious and
ef fective manner.

65. The CHAI RMAN speaking in a personal capacity, endorsed M. van Boven's
comrents concerning the need for the Conmttee to be in closer contact with
the regions and countries with which it was concerned. He also thought that
third world countries felt that there was a flagrant |ack of inpartiality in
the international arena which, for exanple, made it possible to applaud sone
i beration novenents while accusing others of terrorismon the basis of biased
and partisan political considerations. Those countries could not understand,
for exanple, why some Governnents were supporting the Kurdish nationalists in
Irag and opposing those in Turkey while both were defending the same cause of
national independence. This led themto believe that the cause of human
rights was often manipulated in the interest of undeclared political ains.

66. For his part, he did not think that there was a need to take new
measures or adopt new conventions: there was sinply a need to ensure that the
exi sting ones were duly inplenmented, taking care to treat all the nmenbers of
the international conmunity on an equal footing, which was not currently the
case.

67. M. DI ACONU said that caution should be exercised. He pointed out that
the effectiveness of the treaty bodi es depended on the inpartiality,
objectivity and professionalismof the experts of which they consisted. He

t hought that every reconmendati on seeking to inprove their functioning should
hi ghl i ght those basic requirenents, which needed to be maintained. The
experts were subjected to all types of pressure from States, governnenta
organi zations and other parties and would certainly not be able to calmy
express a candid opinion if they had to nmeet within the franework of | arge
conferences attended by hundreds of non-governnental organizations and under
the scrutiny of the nedia.

68. He al so pointed out that the nenbers of the Conmittee should not base
their opinions on any principle, criterion or concept, even of a humanitarian
nature, other than those set forth in the Convention from which their nmandate



CERD/ C/ SR. 1310
page 14

was derived. In practice, they could insist that States parties not only
allow civil society to participate, through national non-government al

organi zations, in the preparation of their periodic reports but also ensure
that the Conmittee's conclusions and recommendati ons concerning those reports
be publicized and foll owed up. That presupposed a desire on the part of the
Committee to seek close collaboration, instead of confrontation, with the
States parties, bearing in mnd the fact that its links with States, being
derived solely fromthe Convention, were very delicate and needed to be
carefully preserved.

69. He believed, like M. Garvalov, that the main problemlay in the
i npl ementation of the international human rights conventions and the need to
ensure a better understanding of their ains, nethods and application.

70. M. RECHETOV drew attention to several defects in the application of

i nternational human rights conventions. Sone were attributable to the

i deol ogi cal inplications of the conventions which, for exanple, induced the
States of the former comruni st bloc to systematically state in their reports
that there were no human rights violations in their territory, the new society
havi ng eradi cated that type of problem Likew se, it was not uncomon for
sone States parties to claimthat their denocratic tradition secured them

agai nst such violations, that they had adequate | egislation and that,
consequently, they had no problenms in that respect.

71. O her States, after long hesitation, finally acceded to a convention but
expressed many reservations that were inconpatible with the ainms of the
instrunment. Others, while failing to honour their obligations concerning the
presentation of periodic reports, curiously derived a certain prestige
therefromat the United Nations or in regional institutions such as the
Council of Europe. Finally, sonme countries doubted the inpartiality of the

i nternational system for the protection of human rights, which they suspected
of favouring sone religious sensitivities. It mght be possible to draw on

| egal texts preceding the Shari'a in order to enrich the present system for
the protection of human rights and render it nore attractive to third world
countri es.

72. M. FERRERO COSTA said that, |ike everyone el se, he was aware of the
heavy burden that the obligation to prepare and submt periodic reports to the
various treaty bodies placed on a nunber of States parties. He neverthel ess

t hought that it would be a mstake to conbine the reports to the various
treaty bodies since the latter should retain their specificity in accordance
with their mandate. On the other hand, consideration m ght be given to the
possibility of requesting States parties to present their reports only once
every four years. Financial and manpower resources would also need to be

all ocated to the Conmmittee in order to enable it to apply nore effectively the
early warning and urgent procedures that were crucial for the proper discharge
of its mandate. |In addition, there was a need for followup on the
concl usi ons and reconmmendati ons of the Conmittee and, to that end, the latter
woul d need to be endowed with a nore pernmanent secretariat and presided over
by a chairman vested with greater executive powers.

73. He too felt that the Cormittee shoul d endeavour to break out of its
i solation by, for exanple, holding neetings at places other than Geneva. Sone



CERD/ C/ SR. 1310
page 15

of its nmenbers could also attend seminars in various parts of the world and
take that opportunity to pronote a better understanding of the m ssion and
functions of the Cormmittee

74. He regretted, in particular, that the international conmunity was not
taki ng adequat e advantage of the experience and skills of the nenbers of the
Comrittee to defuse grave crises linked to racial problenms. However, it had
to be acknowl edged that the Convention did not contain any provisions to that
effect.

75. M. de GOUTTES regretted that the Conmttee had so little tine to devote
to such a vast subject and hoped that Ms. Bayefski and M. Heyns woul d nake
use of the numerous docunents pertinent to the study of the United Nations
human rights treaty system

76. Wth regard to the Conmttee's needs, he said that nore financia
resources and support staff were needed to provide good offices or advisory
services in countries in difficulty. The Conmttee al so needed i ncreased
resources in order to be able to organize training semnars on human rights
and the preparation of periodic reports, which would enable the internationa
community to benefit fromthe largely underutilized experience of its nmenbers.
Finally, it needed additional support staff in order to inprove not only the
consi deration of the periodic reports submtted to it but also relations
between its secretariat and those of national and regional organizations and
in order to maintain direct contacts and exchange information with regiona
organi zations, send its experts into the field and enabl e representatives of
those organi zations to appear before it. He was aware that each of those
proposals would inevitably run up agai nst the usual problenms of funding and
manpower .

77. The CHAI RMAN t hanked M's. Bayefski and M. Heyns. Speaking in a
personal capacity, he invited themto take careful note of article 11 of the
Convention, which stipulated that: “If a State Party considers that another
State Party is not giving effect to the provisions of this Convention, it nmay
bring the matter to the attention of the Cormttee”, and to ask thensel ves why
it had never been invoked.

78. Ms. Bayefski and M. Heyns wthdrew

The neeting rose at 1.05 p. m




